

Annual Review of Neuroscience Brainstem Circuits for Locomotion

Roberto Leiras,^{1,*} Jared M. Cregg,^{1,*} and Ole Kiehn^{1,2}

¹Department of Neuroscience, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark; email: Ole.Kiehn@sund.ku.dk

²Department of Neuroscience, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

ANNUAL CONNECT

www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 2022. 45:63-85

First published as a Review in Advance on January 5, 2022

The Annual Review of Neuroscience is online at neuro.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-082321-025137

Copyright © 2022 Leiras et al. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information

*These authors contributed equally to this article



Keywords

spinal cord, basal ganglia, cortex, motor control, cuneiform nucleus, pedunculopontine nucleus

Abstract

Locomotion is a universal motor behavior that is expressed as the output of many integrated brain functions. Locomotion is organized at several levels of the nervous system, with brainstem circuits acting as the gate between brain areas regulating innate, emotional, or motivational locomotion and executive spinal circuits. Here we review recent advances on brainstem circuits involved in controlling locomotion. We describe how delineated command circuits govern the start, speed, stop, and steering of locomotion. We also discuss how these pathways interface between executive circuits in the spinal cord and diverse brain areas important for context-specific selection of locomotion. A recurrent theme is the need to establish a functional connectome to and from brainstem command circuits. Finally, we point to unresolved issues concerning the integrated function of locomotor control.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	64
DESCENDING COMMAND FUNCTIONS FOR LOCOMOTION	65
Midbrain Nuclei Mediate Start and Speed of Locomotion and Selection of Gaits	65
Lower Brainstem Nuclei Integrate Start and Speed Commands	67
Locomotor Stop	69
Locomotor Asymmetries	70
COMMAND EXECUTION BY SPINAL LOCOMOTOR NETWORKS	71
BEHAVIORAL SELECTION OF DESCENDING COMMAND FUNCTIONS	73
Action Selection via Basal Ganglia Circuits	74
Defensive Locomotor Behavior	76
Recruitment of Locomotor Asymmetries	77
CONCLUDING REMARKS	78

INTRODUCTION

Locomotion is a fundamental motor behavior common to most animals and humans. It is used episodically in many of life's daily activities. Behavior is expressed through locomotion as an innate response to fear or hunger, a cognitive desire to move toward a goal, or an emotional urge to explore the environment, perhaps in search of a mate.

Seamless locomotion requires integrated action of motor circuits located at multiple levels of the nervous system. The execution of locomotion, which involves selection of specific muscles that are activated for exact periods of time with precise coordination, is in large part accomplished by activity in neuronal networks of the spinal cord itself. Spinal circuitries for locomotor execution have been studied for many years in phylogenetically diverse vertebrate models, allowing detailed insight as to their organization, and are extensively reviewed elsewhere (Goulding 2009; Grillner & El Manira 2020; Grillner & Jessell 2009; Kiehn 2006, 2016). Planning of locomotion takes place in supraspinal structures, including cortical motor areas and the basal ganglia. Immediate central control over spinal circuits, however, is located in the brainstem, which exerts control over the initiation, speed, termination, and direction of locomotor bouts. Brainstem circuits have traditionally been difficult to dissect due to their heterogeneous composition and borderless structures. However, critical advances in the organization of brainstem circuits are now emerging (Ruder & Arber 2019). The route to understanding these circuits has been paved by electrophysiological, molecular genetic, network, and behavioral approaches, which together link specific neuronal populations to distinct aspects of behavior.

In this review, we focus on brainstem circuits involved in controlling locomotion in mammals, with emphasis on recent advances in this area. We discuss how dedicated command circuits implement initiation, stop, and steering of locomotion and how these command circuits may interact with executive circuits in the spinal cord. We also address how brainstem locomotor circuits may be selected in different behavioral contexts and demonstrate how the clear delineation of the command circuits provides entry points for functional bottom-up analysis of higher brain functions that use locomotion as an output. Throughout the review, we point to the importance of establishing functional links of connectivity. We also point to unresolved issues about the integrated function of brain, brainstem, and spinal cord networks that control locomotion.

DESCENDING COMMAND FUNCTIONS FOR LOCOMOTION

Midbrain Nuclei Mediate Start and Speed of Locomotion and Selection of Gaits

A key function of locomotor control is the initiation or start of locomotion. Executive locomotor networks in the spinal cord are able to produce and maintain a locomotor output consisting of coordinated muscle activity when appropriately activated by unpatterned excitation. In the isolated spinal cord, this can be obtained by applying neuroactive substances directly to the cord (Grillner 2003, Harris-Warrick 2011, Kiehn 2006, Schmidt & Jordan 2000). In the intact animal, this excitatory command or start signal to spinal locomotor networks originates in supraspinal regions. Research to define this or these command regions has evolved over time, starting with seminal studies by Shik, Severin, and Orlovskiĭ (Shik et al. 1966), who discovered that an area in or around the cuneiform nucleus (CnF) in the midbrain initiates locomotion when electrically stimulated. Stimulation evoked different gaits, with walking at low stimulation intensity, trot at slightly higher intensity, and gallop at the highest stimulation intensity. The authors named this midbrain area the mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR). Since then, the presence of a functional MLR has been demonstrated in a variety of vertebrate species, including fish, birds, and legged mammals (Grillner et al. 1997, Jordan 1998, Ryczko & Dubuc 2013).

After these early studies, the nature and anatomical location of MLR remained a matter of debate. In addition to CnF, the pedunculopontine nucleus (PPN) was implicated as a major component of MLR. Many studies, including those in cats (Amemiya & Yamaguchi 1984; Mori et al. 1989; Opris et al. 2019; Shefchyk & Jordan 1985; Shefchyk et al. 1984; Sirota & Shik 1973; Takakusaki et al. 2003, 2016), monkeys (Eidelberg et al. 1981), guinea pigs (Marlinsky & Voitenko 1991), lamprey (Dubuc et al. 2008, Sirota et al. 2000), and rats (Brudzynski et al. 1986, Coles et al. 1989), showed that electrical stimulation or chemical activation of CnF was effective in initiating locomotion. Therefore, the CnF was suggested to be the main component of MLR as CnF exhibited the lowest threshold for initiating locomotion. In contrast, other studies using electrical or chemical stimulation indicated that the PPN in cats (Garcia-Rill et al. 1981) or the caudal PPN in rats (Brudzynski & Wang 1996, Garcia-Rill et al. 1985, Milner & Mogenson 1988, Skinner & Garcia-Rill 1984, Virmani et al. 2019) was the main component of MLR, and especially the large cholinergic neurons in caudal PPN. While electrical and chemical stimulation experiments pointed to the sufficiency of CnF and/or PPN for locomotor initiation, lesions aimed at establishing the necessity for locomotor initiation of these regions provided unclear and conflicting results (see Jordan 1998, Ryczko & Dubuc 2013, Winn 2006). In some studies, lesions of the PPN or the CnF did not affect spontaneous locomotion (Allen et al. 1996, Inglis et al. 1994), while in other studies, similar lesions of PPN caused reduced locomotor activity (Aziz et al. 1998, Brudzynski & Mogenson 1985) or gait disturbances (Karachi et al. 2010). So, after decades of research, studies to functionally define MLR pointed to two different regions in the brainstem: CnF and PPN.

CnF and PPN are extended structures situated close to each other in the midbrain and contain neurons with excitatory long-range projections that are glutamatergic in CnF and both glutamatergic and cholinergic in PPN. Excitatory populations in both CnF and PPN are also intermingled with local and long-range projecting inhibitory interneurons (Mena-Segovia & Bolam 2017, Ryczko & Dubuc 2013). Electrical or chemical stimulation experiments or broad lesion studies were therefore unable to distinguish the contribution from the various neuronal populations present in these areas and also exhibited low fidelity in terms of localization. In very recent experiments, these issues have been tackled using cell type– and location-specific targeting in the two regions of the mouse brainstem. Optogenetic activation has unambiguously shown that activation of glutamatergic neurons—expressing the vesicular glutamate transporter Vglut2—in CnF can



The MLR, composed of glutamatergic neurons in the CnF and the caudal PPN, controls initiation of locomotion and diverse aspects of speed and gait. (*a*) Anatomical localization of the MLR, composed of CnF (*blue*) and PPN (*red*), in the midbrain of the mouse in sagittal and transverse sections. The two structures are found lateral to the periaqueductal gray, ventral to the superior and inferior colliculi, and dorsal to the pontine reticular nucleus, oral part. Glutamatergic (Vglut2) and GABAergic (Vgat) neurons are intermingled in the CnF and PPN, with cholinergic neurons also present in the PPN. (*b*) Speed and gait profiles after optogenetic stimulation of CnF- or PPN-Vglut2 neurons. Stimulation of CnF-Vglut2 neurons results in the expression of the entire range of speeds and gaits observed in spontaneously moving mice. Lower stimulation frequencies elicit slow locomotor speeds and the alternating gaits walk and trot. Higher stimulation frequencies evoke faster locomotor speeds and the synchronous gaits gallop and bound. In contrast, stimulation of PPN-Vglut2 neurons only elicits slow speeds and the alternating gaits (bound) and an alternating gait (trot) are shown as step diagrams. Filled boxes represent the stance phase, and open spaces represent the swing phase. Trot is characterized by alternation around the girdle and simultaneous activity in the diagonal forelimbs and hindlimbs. Bound is characterized by synchronous activity around the girdle and alternation between the forelimbs and hindlimbs. Abbreviations: CnF, cuneiform nucleus; LFL, left forelimb; LHL, left hindlimb.

initiate locomotion with short latencies from rest and modulates the speed of ongoing locomotion in mice (Caggiano et al. 2018, Dautan et al. 2021, Josset et al. 2018, Roseberry et al. 2016, van der Zouwen et al. 2021) (**Figure 1**). CnF-Vglut2 neurons allow acquisition of the full range of locomotor speeds and gaits, with expression of low-speed alternating gaits like walk and trot at lower stimulation frequencies and high-speed gaits like gallop and bound at higher stimulation frequencies (Caggiano et al. 2018). Optogenetic stimulation of PPN-Vglut2 neurons in caudal PPN also initiates locomotion in mice and rats (Caggiano et al. 2018, Carvalho et al. 2020, Lee et al. 2014, Masini & Kiehn 2022). In contrast to CnF, PPN activation only causes expression of slow alternating locomotor gaits (Caggiano et al. 2018) (**Figure 1**). Caggiano et al. (2018) also showed that the glutamatergic neurons in the CnF are necessary to initiate high-speed gaits—gallop and bound independently of PPN-Vglut2 neurons. The firing of CnF-Vglut2 and PPN-Vglut2 neurons is related to locomotor speed (Caggiano et al. 2018, Roseberry et al. 2016), suggesting that neuronal activity codes frequency of the locomotor rhythm. Other studies have been unable to demonstrate locomotor initiation by stimulation of PPN-Vglut2 neurons (Dautan et al. 2021, Josset et al. 2018), instead showing that stimulation of these neurons in nonmoving animals elicited phasic muscle activity (Josset et al. 2018) or tonic muscle activity (Dautan et al. 2021). The outcome discrepancies between studies may reflect different targeting approaches and/or stimulus paradigms leading to activation of different subpopulations of PPN-Vglut2 neurons. Indeed, subpopulations of glutamatergic neurons in PPN, stratified by their distinct axonal projections to the basal ganglia, the spinal cord, or medulla, are intermingled and exhibit neuronal activity related to diverse body actions, including rearing, body extension, and locomotion (Ferreira-Pinto et al. 2021). Optogenetic stimulation of PPN-Vglut2 neurons with selective projections to substantia nigra pars reticulata elicits antikinetic modulation of movement (Ferreira-Pinto et al. 2021). Moreover, the locomotorpromoting effect of PPN-Vglut2 neurons is restricted to the caudal PPN (Caggiano et al. 2018, Masini & Kiehn 2022), and, similar to what has been observed from electrical stimulation in rostral PPN (Takakusaki et al. 2003, 2016), glutamatergic neurons in the rostral PPN control whole-body motor arrest (Carvalho et al. 2020, Goñi-Erro et al. 2020). Therefore, targeting PPN-Vglut2 neurons broadly will lead to variable effects with locomotor promotion in caudal PPN and movement arrest in rostral PPN.

The role of cholinergic PPN neurons in locomotor initiation has also been addressed directly in recent rodent studies. Activation of cholinergic PPN neurons may have no effect (Josset et al. 2018, Kroeger et al. 2017), decrease (Caggiano et al. 2018), or slightly increase the speed of ongoing locomotion (Roseberry et al. 2016, Xiao et al. 2016). These experiments strongly suggest that cholinergic PPN neurons in mammals are not an essential part of the locomotor command, as was originally suggested, although their activity may modulate ongoing locomotion possibly via ascending connections (Mena-Segovia & Bolam 2017).

In summary, cell type–specific studies have provided important insight into the functional identity of the MLR in mammals by showing that speed-dependent locomotor control resides in glutamatergic neurons in both PPN and CnF. These two separate start command pathways encode speeds of locomotion in complementary ways. Caudal PPN-Vglut2 neurons support exploratory locomotion, while CnF-Vglut2 neurons are necessary for high-speed locomotion characteristic of escape responses (Caggiano et al. 2018). Dual channels for locomotor initiation are reflected by distinct input connectivity to CnF- and PPN-Vglut2 neurons. PPN-Vglut2 neurons receive strong input from the basal ganglia, including from the substantia nigra pars reticulata (SNr) and compacta (SNc) and the subthalamic nucleus (STN), from cortical areas and several brainstem regions that convey sensorimotor information, including the colliculi (Caggiano et al. 2018, Dautan et al. 2021, Mena-Segovia & Bolam 2017, Roseberry et al. 2016, Ryczko & Dubuc 2013). In contrast, input to CnF-Vglut2 neurons is more restricted, with weak input from SNr but strong inputs from the periaqueductal gray and the superior colliculus (SC), which are both associated with escape behavior (Caggiano et al. 2018, Dautan et al. 2021).

Lower Brainstem Nuclei Integrate Start and Speed Commands

The locomotor start signals from MLR (CnF/PPN) do not act directly on executive circuits in the spinal cord. Instead, MLR start neurons connect to reticulospinal neurons that provide the final command signal to locomotor networks in the spinal cord (**Figure 2**). The exact identity of these reticulospinal neurons has been the focus of much research. Anatomical tracing and electrical/chemical activation experiments in the brainstem suggested that neurons in the medullary reticular formation (MRF), including neurons in the reticular gigantocellular nucleus (Gi) and the reticular magnocellular nucleus (Mc), may mediate the final locomotor command from the electrically defined MLR (Brownstone & Chopek 2018; Dubuc et al. 2008; Garcia-Rill et al. 1985; McClellan & Grillner 1984; Mori et al. 1978; Noga et al. 1988, 1991; Takakusaki et al. 2003). Two main transmitter-defined neuronal groups located in these areas were suggested to be



Mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR) connections with reticulospinal targets. (*a*) Schematic view of MLR activation of neurons in the medullary reticular formation (MRF) with reticulospinal axons that descend to executive locomotor networks in the spinal cord through the ventrolateral funiculus. (*b*) As a primary target of the MLR, the lateral paragigantocellular nucleus (LPGi) receives convergent input from cuneiform nucleus (CnF)- and pedunculopontine nucleus (PPN)-Vglut2 neurons. Both CnF- and PPN-Vglut2 neurons project to other MRF regions, including the reticular gigantocellular nucleus (Gi), the ventral part (GiV), the alpha part (GiA), and the medullary reticular formation ventral part (MdV). This MLR-MRF connectivity matrix indicates that, in addition to LPGi-Vglut2 neurons, other descending locomotor pathways mediate CnF and PPN locomotor initiation. (*c*) Optogenetic stimulation of Vglut2-postive neurons in the LPGi initiates locomotion (Capelli et al. 2017).

involved: serotonergic and glutamatergic (Jordan et al. 2008). The evidence for the existence of a serotonergic pathway is derived from experiments in rodents that have shown that 5-HT reliably evokes locomotor activity in the isolated spinal cord (Schmidt & Jordan 2000) and that electrical stimulation of the parapyramidal nucleus, which contains serotonergic neurons, can initiate locomotion (Liu & Jordan 2005). The evidence for a glutamatergic descending pathway came from experiments in several different vertebrates showing that locomotion can be initiated by glutamatergic agonists applied to the cord, which demonstrated that CnF-evoked locomotion is transmitted through large-diameter descending reticulospinal neurons and that CnF-evoked locomotion can be blocked by preventing glutamatergic receptor activation in the spinal cord (Douglas et al. 1993, Grillner et al. 1997, Jordan et al. 2008). However, because the locomotor rhythm-generating circuitries in the spinal cord themselves are glutamatergic, pharmacological perturbation only provides indirect evidence of the existence of a descending glutamatergic signal. Early optogenetic experiments confirmed the glutamatergic nature of the reticulospinal command, demonstrating

that broad optogenetic stimulation of brainstem glutamatergic neurons could initiate locomotorlike activity in isolated brainstem-spinal cord preparations (Hägglund et al. 2010). These studies have been taken a step further by focusing on the cell type-specific function of neurons in subdomains of Mc-which is composed of the alpha part of the gigantocellular nucleus (GiA) and the ventral part of the gigantocellular nucleus (GiV)-in the lateral paragigantocellular nucleus (LPGi) and in Gi itself (Capelli et al. 2017). Optogenetic stimulation of glutamatergic LPGi neurons, but not of glutamatergic GiA, GiV, or Gi neurons, caused initiation of forward-directed locomotion in freely moving mice (Figure 2). Lemieux & Bretzner (2019) also showed that broad stimulation of glutamatergic neurons in Gi could not initiate locomotion. Optogenetic activation of inhibitory neurons in GiA, GiV, or Gi disrupted or arrested locomotion (Capelli et al. 2017). These experiments point to LPGi as an important functional reticulospinal locomotor command node regulating the expression of high-speed locomotion. This notion is supported by observation of strong input projections from locomotor-promoting CnF neurons to LGPi (Caggiano et al. 2018, Capelli et al. 2017) and by experiments demonstrating that LPGi-Vglut2 neuron ablation attenuates the effect of CnF-Vglut2-induced locomotion (Capelli et al. 2017). Nonetheless, CnF-Vglut2 neurons also project to GiA and GiV, and locomotor-promoting PPN-Vglut2 neurons have projections to diverse MRF nuclei, including LPGi, Gi, GiA, GiV, and medullary reticular formation ventral part (Caggiano et al. 2018, Dautan et al. 2021). Therefore, it is likely that descending glutamatergic locomotor pathways have several origins in the brainstem reticular formation, forming parallel pathways corresponding to the diverse descending projection patterns from CnF and PPN to brainstem nuclei (Figure 2). Future experiments may address this issue by mapping the pathways in a behavioral context directly linked to the two MLR (CnF/PPN) regions. Linking of MLR regions to modulatory pathways, for example, serotonergic (Jordan et al. 2008) or acetylcholinergic (Dubuc et al. 2008), will also be of interest.

Locomotor Stop

An essential component of locomotor control is the ability to terminate a locomotor bout. Goaldirected locomotor stops impart finalization of the step cycle and a postural readjustment that promotes performance of subsequent behavioral output. Cortical areas and the basal ganglia are thought to be involved in termination of ongoing movements (Roseberry & Kreitzer 2017, Wessel & Aron 2017). However, specific brainstem mechanisms that generate a locomotor stop are not well understood. Locomotion can be suppressed momentarily by short-lasting activation of GABAergic neurons of the CnF or PPN (Caggiano et al. 2018, Roseberry et al. 2016), the two structures that encompass the MLR. This MLR-mediated locomotor arrest is thought to reflect the suppression of an initiation or speed command rather than an active locomotor stop per se. Nonetheless, recent experiments have defined active stop mechanisms in the brainstem. Bilateral optogenetic stimulation of glutamatergic Chx10-positive neurons in Gi halts ongoing locomotion (Bouvier et al. 2015) (Figure 3). This locomotor arrest is executed as a canonical stop, where the animal finalizes the step cycle and adopts a stereotypic sitting posture with the hindlimb position about the girdle coming to rest at a perpendicular position relative to the body axis. Recordings of locomotor-like activity in in vitro spinal cord preparations demonstrated that bilateral stimulation of Chx10 Gi neurons arrests spinal locomotor activity on both sides of the lumbar spinal cord (Bouvier et al. 2015). Expression of the canonical stop is observed spontaneously during open field exploration and is reduced after eliminating synaptic transmission in Chx10 Gi neurons (Bouvier et al. 2015). Chx10 Gi neurons are active during locomotor activity (Bretzner & Brownstone 2013), and calcium imaging has shown that a proportion of Chx10 Gi neurons are active during spontaneous locomotor stops (Schwenkgrub et al. 2020), confirming an active role in mediating the



Stop and asymmetric locomotion mediated by Chx10 reticular Gi neurons in the mouse brainstem. Excitatory Chx10 Gi neurons project to locomotor networks in the spinal cord. When Chx10 Gi neurons are bilaterally recruited, mice perform a canonical stop where the animal adopts a resting position with the hindlimb position about the girdle in a perpendicular orientation relative to the body axis (*middle*). Chx10 Gi neurons mediate their effect by inhibiting locomotor rhythm (Bouvier et al. 2015). When Chx10 Gi neurons are recruited unilaterally, mice perform a turn toward the side of recruitment (*right*). This asymmetric recruitment causes turning by reducing flexor rhythm and step length on the side of recruitment (Cregg et al. 2020). Abbreviations: Gi, gigantocellular nucleus, LHL, left hindlimb; RHL, right hindlimb.

stop. Neurons with the ability to stop locomotion are a general feature of the vertebrate nervous system and found in evolutionary old animals like the lamprey (Grätsch et al. 2019, Juvin et al. 2016). Together, these experiments point to a brainstem pathway that acts to cause an intentional stop of locomotion, which is appropriately incorporated into the locomotor behavior.

Locomotor Asymmetries

Initial experiments on the MLR (CnF) revealed that unilateral stimulation evokes bilateral, fullbodied locomotion with no directional bias (Shik et al. 1966). This finding was confirmed in many later studies, including those employing cell type–specific stimulation of CnF and PPN (Caggiano et al. 2018, Josset et al. 2018, Musienko et al. 2012, Roseberry et al. 2016, Ryczko & Dubuc 2013). This finding demonstrates that symmetry is a property of circuits that initiate locomotion and control its speed. Neurons of CnF and PPN exhibit anatomical and functional signatures of symmetry, including bilateral projection and recruitment of putative reticulospinal targets in the medulla (Brocard et al. 2010, Caggiano et al. 2018, Capelli et al. 2017, Ryczko & Dubuc 2013). Moreover, symmetry is reinforced at the level of reticulospinal projections (Brocard et al. 2010, Capelli et al. 2017), including those of LPGi, which project bilaterally to the spinal cord (Capelli et al. 2017).

The observation that many of the descending locomotor-related systems identified to date exhibit functional symmetry (Brownstone & Chopek 2018, Capelli et al. 2017, Ferreira-Pinto et al. 2018) prompted a search for pathways with the capacity to regulate spinal networks unilaterally. Chx10 Gi neurons represented candidates for this function because Chx10 neurons are ipsilaterally projecting, at least within the spinal cord (Al-Mosawie et al. 2007, Lundfald et al. 2007). Indeed, Chx10 Gi neurons exhibit predominant ipsilateral projection to the spinal cord, where they arborize and synapse within the ipsilateral gray matter (Cregg et al. 2020, Usseglio et al. 2020). Unilateral stimulation of Chx10 Gi neurons in freely moving mice caused ipsilaterally biased locomotor bouts, that is, turning, whereas unilateral inhibition of Chx10 Gi neurons biased locomotion toward the contralateral side (Cregg et al. 2020). Mice cannot compensate for dysfunction of Chx10 Gi neurons (Cregg et al. 2020), indicating that this population is obligatory for control over locomotor direction.

Unilateral activation of Chx10 Gi neurons causes ipsilateral contraction of muscles that rotate the head about the yaw axis (Cregg et al. 2020, Usseglio et al. 2020) and axial muscles that bend the trunk (Cregg et al. 2020) but no forward movement when the animal is at rest. Therefore, although axial circuits adjust posture as it relates to head or trunk orientation, locomotor direction is ultimately mediated via the limbs (Gruntman et al. 2007). While strong unilateral optogenetic activation may initiate a bilateral locomotor stop and axial bend toward the ipsilateral side (Usseglio et al. 2020), more modest optogenetic activation caused locomotor turning accompanied by a reduction in speed without a stop (Cregg et al. 2020) (Figure 3). Chemogenetic stimulation of Chx10 Gi neurons also biased ipsilaterally turning without a stop (Cregg et al. 2020). These findings implicated a unilateral brake mechanism for turning. In vitro experiments in brainstem-spinal cord preparations allowed parsing of this mechanism as it directly engages lumbar locomotor circuits; unilateral Chx10 Gi stimulation reduced flexor-related and promoted extensor-related locomotor activity on the ipsilateral side (Cregg et al. 2020). While aquatic vertebrates primarily use axial mechanisms to control locomotor direction (Fagerstedt et al. 2001. Grillner et al. 2007, Huang et al. 2013, Thiele et al. 2014), these data indicate that mammals have evolved a brake mechanism for reducing stride length on the inside of the turn, creating a steering moment about the yaw axis. This unilateral brake mechanism seems to account for turning at higher speeds of locomotion (van der Zouwen et al. 2021), where mice brake and turn to avoid a barrier during CnF-Vglut2-induced increases in locomotor speed.

Although turning is perhaps an obvious example of locomotor asymmetries, it is thought that parallel systems can adjust individual steps (e.g., left or right) in relation to an ongoing locomotor rhythm. Such asymmetric commands are thought to be critical for online adjustments related to obstacle avoidance (Dyson et al. 2014, Schepens & Drew 2006, Warren et al. 2021) and for cerebellar adaptation (Darmohray et al. 2019), although it is unknown what descending circuits may accommodate these functions. Additionally, while Chx10 Gi neurons control rotation of the body about the yaw axis (Cregg et al. 2020), the descending neurons that control body rotation about the pitch and roll axes are not known (Masullo et al. 2019).

COMMAND EXECUTION BY SPINAL LOCOMOTOR NETWORKS

While brainstem circuits generate the commands for start, speed, stop, and turn, spinal locomotor circuits receive and convert these descending signals into coordinated locomotion. How this conversion takes place and which neurons of the spinal circuitry receive these brainstem commands are not well understood. Spinal locomotor networks are composed of inhibitory and excitatory interneurons with a modular organization that generates the main characteristics of locomotion: rhythm and left-right coordination in nonlimbed animals with additional flexor-extensor coordination in limbed animals (Dougherty & Ha 2019; Goulding 2009; Grillner & El Manira 2020; Kiehn 2006, 2016; Rancic & Gosgnach 2021).



Circuitry integrating locomotor command in the spinal cord. Proposed neuronal targets in the spinal cord for the brainstem locomotor command. Excitatory rhythm-generating interneurons of diverse types in the zebrafish (Chx10 V2a neurons), mouse (Shox2, Hb9, or unidentified excitatory interneurons), or lamprey and tadpole (EI) may convert the descending signal into a rhythm controlling speed. In the mouse spinal cord, commissural neurons ($V0_V$ and $V0_D$) enable alternating gaits (walk and trot) at different speeds of locomotion. These cells might be sequentially activated in parallel to the signal controlling speed, securing the expression of appropriate gait coordination at increasing speeds. At the highest speeds, non-V0 activity secures synchronous gaits (gallop and bound). Abbreviations: CnF, cuneiform nucleus; MLR, mesencephalic locomotor region; MRF, medullary reticular formation; PPN, pedunculopontine nucleus.

Excitatory spinal interneurons compose the locomotor rhythm-generating kernel (Dougherty & Ha 2019; Goulding 2009; Grillner & El Manira 2020; Kiehn 2006, 2016; Rancic & Gosgnach 2021), which in turn activates left-right and flexor-extensor coordinating circuits as well as motor neurons. Rhythm-generating excitatory circuits are an obvious target for transforming the descending locomotor start and speed signal into coordinated locomotion. Yet, few studies have demonstrated such connections to putative rhythm-generating neurons. In the lamprey, the activity of medullary reticulospinal neurons monosynaptically excites rhythmically active excitatory spinal neurons (Ohta & Grillner 1989). Similarly, monosynaptic connections from excitatory hindbrain neurons to rhythmically active spinal excitatory neurons have been found in the tadpole (Li et al. 2006). In the cat, stimulation of the CnF activates spinal neurons (presumably via reticulospinal intermediates), which contribute to locomotion (Edgley et al. 1988). Based on such studies, connections from MLR to excitatory reticulospinal neurons onto spinal rhythm-generating neurons have been proposed in several models of vertebrate locomotor networks (Ausborn et al. 2019, Grillner 2003, Roberts et al. 2010). However, such connections have not been confirmed functionally. This hypothesis should be possible to test experimentally because, in mice and zebrafish, excitatory spinal interneurons expressing the transcription factors Chx10 (V2a interneurons), Shox2, and/or Hb9 contribute to the rhythm-generating population (Caldeira et al. 2017, Crone et al. 2008, Dougherty et al. 2013, Eklöf Ljunggren et al. 2014, Song et al. 2020) (Figure 4). These molecular markers enable experimental access to putative rhythm-generating populations, allowing tests for functional connectivity with speed-related excitatory reticulospinal inputs. Further questions about how rhythm is established and how speed is coded—for example, by recruitment of different excitatory rhythm-generating neurons as observed in zebrafish swimming (McLean et al. 2008, Song et al. 2020) or increased firing of the same population of excitatory neurons-should also be possible to answer.

Speed-dependent gait changes, observed by activating either CnF or PPN with increasing frequencies, are implemented via diverse network activity in the spinal cord. The different alternating (walk and trot) and synchronous (gallop or bound) gaits are organized by left-right coordinating locomotor circuits composed of populations of excitatory and inhibitory commissural neurons (CNs) (Butt & Kiehn 2003, Jankowska 2008, Kiehn 2016, Quinlan & Kiehn 2007). Experiments in mice have demonstrated that left-right alternation during locomotion depends on functional crossed inhibition produced directly by inhibitory CNs or indirectly by excitatory CNs acting on inhibitory neurons on the other side of the cord (Kiehn 2006, 2016). This dual inhibitory system is enabled by Dbx1-derived V0 CNs (Lanuza et al. 2004, Talpalar et al. 2013). Full ablation of V0 interneurons results in complete loss of left-right alternation at all speeds of locomotion. The inhibitory dorsal class of V0 interneurons ($V0_D$) controls alternating locomotion at low speeds of locomotion. The excitatory ventral class of V0 interneurons ($V0_V$), which composes the remaining half of V0 interneurons, controls alternation during higher speeds of locomotion (Talpalar et al. 2013). In the absence of $V0_V$ CNs, mutant mice do not exhibit trot, while with ablation of both $V0_V$ and $V0_D$ CNs, mice can only bound (Bellardita & Kiehn 2015). This dual system thus serves a speed-dependent role in coordinating alternating gaits, walk and trot, and allows the expression of synchronous gaits when suppressed. CN organization enables pattern control that is separate and distinct from locomotor rhythm, which indicates that CnF/PPN- and reticulospinal-mediated locomotor commands target V0 CNs to generate gait switching between walk, trot, and bound (Figure 4). MRF-spinal CN connections are well known, but their relationship to subgroups of CNs has not been studied (Jankowska et al. 2003, Matsuyama et al. 2004, Ohta & Grillner 1989, Szokol et al. 2011). A recent modeling study has advanced hypotheses for how speed and gait changes can be implemented by spinal circuits (Ausborn et al. 2019). In this model, PPN, CnF, and LPGi neurons have access to two discrete lines controlling speed and gait, respectively. Speed is implemented via access to rhythm-generating neurons, whereas gait expression is implemented via access to V0_V and V0_D CNs and propriospinal forelimb-hindlimb connecting neurons (Ausborn et al. 2019). These hypotheses will be important to investigate as descending speed command circuitry is resolved in greater detail.

Chx10 Gi-mediated locomotor stops arise via a direct effect on spinal interneurons. The available evidence suggests that the primary effect is on those neurons governing rhythm generation (Bouvier et al. 2015). Since the Chx10 Gi descending signal is excitatory, the obvious mechanism for a stop is the recruitment of spinal inhibitory neurons—either directly or indirectly via local excitatory neurons—which in turn inhibits rhythm-generating circuits (Bouvier et al. 2015). For turning, Chx10 Gi neurons have an asymmetric effect on rhythm generation, leading to decreased step length on the inside of the turn made possible by reducing flexor bursting and enhancing extensor bursting (Cregg et al. 2020). These data would suggest that the line of action is primarily on the flexor rhythm-generating circuits.

BEHAVIORAL SELECTION OF DESCENDING COMMAND FUNCTIONS

In the first sections of this review, we described brainstem circuits involved in the direct control of locomotor initiation, speed, stop, and turn, with some valence linked to the integrated system. Essentially, every context-dependent locomotor behavior—including navigation, foraging, escaping predators, and exploring the environment—must interface with these systems. Delineated brainstem circuits form parallel descending pathways acting on spinal motor circuits, and the repertoire of these pathways can act to support a broad range of behaviors. These command pathways act as nodes that link a clear motor output to context-dependent behavioral states and higher brain functions. To understand how this happens, we examine how different nodes are connected to diverse upstream brain areas and how this connectivity may lead to recruitment in diverse behavioral tasks.

Action Selection via Basal Ganglia Circuits

The planning of goal-directed locomotion is thought to arise at motor cortical areas (Drew & Marigold 2015, Grillner & El Manira 2020, Svoboda & Li 2018). Besides direct connections to brainstem command circuits, motor cortical areas connect to the brainstem via the basal ganglia. There is ample evidence that the basal ganglia are involved in planning and execution of motor acts by complex integration of activity in the classical direct and indirect striatal pathways. Activity in the striatal direct pathway causes inhibition of basal ganglia output neurons, for example, in the SNr or internal globus pallidus (GPi) [entopeduncular nucleus (EP) in nonprimates] (**Figure 5***a*).



Figure 5 (Figure appears on preceding page)

Action selection of start, stop, or turn from basal ganglia. (*a*) Simplified schematic of basal ganglia motor circuitries. The direct pathway is composed of striatal GABAergic dopamine receptor 1 medium spiny neurons (D1 MSNs), which act on GABAergic substantia nigra pars reticulata (SNr) or internal globus pallidus [GPi; entopeduncular nucleus (EP) in nonprimates] neurons connected to brainstem motor circuits or thalamic motor areas projecting back to cortex. The indirect pathway is composed of striatal GABAergic dopamine receptor 2 (D2) MSNs, which act on GABAergic external globus pallidus (GPe) neurons that inhibit the excitatory subthalamic nucleus (STN). The hyperdirect and cortical-parafascicular thalamic nucleus (Pf) pathways project to STN. Dopaminergic substantia nigra pars compacta projections to striatum and brainstem targets, including the pedunculopontine nucleus (PPN), are not shown. (*b*) Opposing effects on locomotion by activation of striatal D1 MSNs (initiation) or D2 MSNs (stop), possibly mediated by decreased or increased SNr-inhibition of PPN-Vglut2 neurons, respectively (see Roseberry et al. 2016). (*c*) Opposing effects on locomotion from activation of PPN-Vglut2 neurons, respectively (see Kadam et al. 2020, Nambu 2004, Watson et al. 2021). (*d*) Opposing effects on turning by activation of striatal D1 MSNs (see Kravitz et al. 2010). Turning is proposed to be controlled by SNr inhibition of prainstem targets.

Activity in the striatal indirect pathway has an opposing effect by increasing activity in the excitatory STN, which activates SNr and GPi/EP. Direct pathway activity causes disinhibition of motor targets and results in movement promotion, whereas indirect pathway activity inhibits motor targets and suppresses movement. These actions may arise through either the SNr-brainstem or pallidal-thalamic-cortical pathway (Klaus et al. 2019) (**Figure 5***a*).

This general model of basal ganglia action selection has led to the suggestion that direct pathway-mediated decreases of tonic SNr activity cause disinhibition of MLR, thereby promoting initiation of locomotion, while indirect pathway activity inhibits locomotion (Garcia-Rill 1986; Grillner & Robertson 2015; Jordan 1998; Kim et al. 2017; Takakusaki et al. 2004, 2016). Experiments using optogenetic manipulations have lent support to this model; bilateral stimulation of striatal direct (D1R) or indirect (D2R) pathway medium spiny neurons promotes or suppresses locomotion, respectively (Kravitz et al. 2010, Roseberry et al. 2016) (Figure 5b). This raises the question, which part of MLR is primarily involved? Takakusaki et al. (2003) showed that electrical stimulation of the ventral SNr has a powerful modulatory effect on locomotion induced by electrical stimulation of the CnF/dorsal PPN in cats and proposed that SNr primarily modulates CnF activity (Takakusaki et al. 2003). However, while SNr neurons have abundant direct connections to PPN (McElvain et al. 2021, Mena-Segovia & Bolam 2017, Ryczko & Dubuc 2013) and strong projections to PPN-Vglut2 neurons (Caggiano et al. 2018, Ferreira-Pinto et al. 2021, Roseberry et al. 2016), there is only weak innervation of CnF-Vglut2 neurons (Caggiano et al. 2018, Roseberry et al. 2016). Priority access to locomotor-initiating PPN neurons from SNr suggests that locomotor initiation via direct pathway activity is mediated by disinhibition of PPN-Vglut2 neurons rather than of CnF-Vglut2 neurons (Figure 5b).

Parallel basal ganglia pathways may assist in the recruitment of PPN neurons to support goaldirected locomotion. Through an evolutionarily conserved pathway, dopaminergic SNc neurons have collateral axons to PPN that may facilitate the activity of PPN neurons (Rolland et al. 2009, Ryczko & Dubuc 2013, Ryczko et al. 2016). The increased burst firing of dopaminergic SNc neurons at movement onset (Klaus et al. 2019) may therefore have a dual action on PPN activity: disinhibition through the direct pathway and simultaneous direct activation of PPN neurons. The dynamics of this modulation with respect to PPN-Vglut2 recruitment needs to be worked out in greater detail. Presently, there are limited data on basal ganglia neuronal activity with respect to locomotion (Fobbs et al. 2020, Mullie et al. 2020, Robbe 2018, Schwarz et al. 1984, Shi et al. 2004). Experiments with recordings of basal ganglia cell activity during different locomotor speeds or contexts together with targeted activation and inactivation experiments of the output pathways are necessary for understanding how action is selected. Such experiments should also enable definition of the network and cellular mechanism(s) for disinhibition at the level of PPN.

Locomotion can be modulated through changes in STN activity that act via SNr (and GPi/EP) (Figure 5a). Selective ablation of Vglut2 STN neurons causes hyperlocomotion and decreased latency to initiation of movement (Schweizer et al. 2014). In contrast, bilateral optogenetic stimulation of STN neurons inhibits ongoing locomotion (Guillaumin et al. 2021, Parolari et al. 2021). These results fit within the standard model of basal ganglia, where it is well accepted that Parkinsonian-related changes lead to increases in STN activity causing general movement inhibition, and ablation of STN in this situation can normalize movement deficits (DeLong 1990, Klaus et al. 2019). In addition to being regulated by external globus pallidus activity, STN may also be influenced directly through excitatory input from cortical areas-the hyperdirect pathway (Nambu 2004) (Figure 5a,c). Mounting evidence has shown that the hyperdirect pathway may be recruited in no-go motor tasks (Wessel & Aron 2017). Premotor cortex-STN neurons can also be recruited during visually guided locomotion to execute a learned motor stop (Adam et al. 2020), possibly acting through SNr to inhibit PPN-induced locomotion. Glutamatergic locomotor-promoting PPN neurons also receive direct input from STN neurons (Caggiano et al. 2018, Roseberry et al. 2016), which would imply a locomotor-promoting effect upon STN activation (Figure 5a,c). Such a locomotor-promoting effect has recently been discovered for thalamic projections from the parafascicular nucleus to STN (Watson et al. 2021) (Figure 5a,c). The opposing effect on locomotion by STN-SNr-PPN and STN-PPN pathways implies that these pathways can be recruited to stop or initiate locomotion in specific behavioral contexts.

Steering can be evoked via unilateral stimulation of striatal medium spiny neurons (Kravitz et al. 2010), and locomotor direction can be read out from population activity within the striatum (Tecuapetla et al. 2014). Furthermore, unilateral stimulation of SNr or STN induces turning (Guillaumin et al. 2021, Parolari et al. 2021, Rizzi & Tan 2019). Since unilateral MLR stimulation leads to symmetric forward locomotion, steering must be mediated through parallel basal ganglia output pathways, with possible connections to Chx10 Gi neurons, SC, or other brainstem targets (Figure 5*d*).

Defensive Locomotor Behavior

Modulation of locomotion is fundamental for executing defensive behavior. In its most basic form, defensive behavior has two motor outcomes—freezing or flight. The choice between these two exclusive behaviors depends on the context, leading to an optimal decision whether to escape from an aversive or threatening stimulus or to immobilize to reduce the risk of being seen. Both motor behaviors are active responses where locomotion either is increased dramatically or abruptly comes to a halt. The neuronal circuits that control defensive behavior therefore, by necessity, converge on brainstem locomotor pathways.

The amygdala plays an essential role in defensive behavior (Ciocchi et al. 2010, Fadok et al. 2017, Herry & Johansen 2014, Tovote et al. 2015). Recent work has connected central fear circuits in amygdala with brainstem motor circuits (Tovote et al. 2016). This work identifies inhibitory circuits in the central amygdala (CEA) that cause freezing by disinhibition of excitatory neurons in the ventrolateral periaqueductal gray (vIPAG). Excitatory neurons in the vIPAG in turn project to reticulospinal neurons in the Mc. The freezing pathway also receives input from circuits in the dorsolateral periaqueductal gray (dIPAG) mediating flight. The dIPAG flight circuit inhibits the vIPAG freezing pathway, securing exclusive expression of flight behavior. The mutually exclusive expression of freezing and escape is also represented at the level of CEA, where distinct inhibitory populations promote either flight or freezing (Fadok et al. 2017). These inhibitory circuits are reciprocally connected, suggesting that selection of behavioral responses is a result of competitive interactions between two defined populations of inhibitory neurons (Fadok et al.

2017). How exactly the Mc signal is integrated in spinal motor circuits in order to elicit the phenotypic freezing response is still an open question that will require functional analysis of Mc projections to identified spinal neurons. Another question that needs clarification is how active locomotor movements are terminated to allow the expression of freezing. Locomotion could be terminated via a stop command relayed to spinal executive circuits or by blocking the locomotor speed command at the level of CnF/PPN. PPN and CnF-Vglut2 neurons both receive inputs from CEA (Caggiano et al. 2018, Roseberry et al. 2016), and GABAergic CEA neurons connect monosynaptically to MLR neurons (Roseberry et al. 2019). This pathway might, therefore, be activated in parallel to the freezing pathway to terminate ongoing locomotion in defensive behavior (Roseberry et al. 2019). Behavioral and network analyses have also demonstrated that basolateral amygdala neurons projecting to the CEA can drive momentary locomotor arrests in an experience-dependent manner when animals familiarize themselves with a novel environment (Botta et al. 2020). This locomotor arrest is likely mediated by CEA inhibition of MLR neurons (Botta et al. 2020). CEA-MLR circuits may therefore initiate halt of locomotion by suppressing the locomotor drive both as part of a defense response and also in nondefensive behaviors (Botta et al. 2020, Roseberry et al. 2019).

The defensive flight or escape behavior is triggered by visual input to the optic tectum or SC (Branco & Redgrave 2020, Isa et al. 2021). Classical stimulation experiments and lesion studies in rodents have shown that the medial SC receives input from the upper visual field and that this area of SC mediates the escape response (Dean et al. 1988, 1989), as also confirmed in recent optogenetic stimulation experiments (Isa et al. 2020). The medial SC has strong direct projections to CnF (Dean et al. 1988, 1989; Isa et al. 2020), with specific projections to CnF-Vglut2 neurons (Caggiano et al. 2018, Roseberry et al. 2016). Moreover, medial SC projects to dlPAG (Dean et al. 1988, 1989; Isa et al. 2020), which has long been implicated in flight responses (Assareh et al. 2016, Branco & Redgrave 2020, Deng et al. 2016). Using a mouse model for escape, Evans et al. (2018) showed that glutamatergic dlPAG neurons are monosynaptically activated from the medial SC through a synaptic threshold mechanism that only allows strong stimuli to cause threat-evoked escape (Evans et al. 2018). The dlPAG also exhibits direct projections to CnF (Dampney et al. 2013, Dean et al. 1989), with specific connections to CnF-Vglut2 neurons (Caggiano et al. 2018). Highspeed CnF-Vglut2 neurons thus receive both direct and indirect input from SC. Escape behavior also involves simultaneous acquisition of optimal paths toward shelter (Branco & Redgrave 2020), possibly recruiting steering neurons in the brainstem.

Recruitment of Locomotor Asymmetries

Locomotor asymmetries subserve two primary organismal functions: (*a*) orientation relative to salient environmental stimuli (e.g., visual or auditory) and (*b*) navigation toward a target based on an internal model or map. While these functions may be dissociable in both vertebrate and invertebrate species (Ferris et al. 2018, Packard & McGaugh 1992, Rayshubskiy et al. 2020), their necessity overlaps in certain behavioral contexts. Identification of Chx10 Gi neurons, which are required for locomotor asymmetries, allows an entry point for bottom-up dissection of such systems. Chx10 Gi neurons receive a number of unilateral projections from upstream nuclei (Cregg et al. 2020, Usseglio et al. 2020), including the ipsilateral zona incerta, the contralateral medial deep cerebellar nucleus, and the contralateral SC, among others. Of these, the contralateral lateral SC imparts directional commands via monosynaptic projection on Chx10 Gi neurons (Cregg et al. 2020). In rodents, the lateral SC receives input from the lower visual field (Dean et al. 1986, Isa et al. 2021, Zingg et al. 2017). Thus, the SC-Gi crossed projection appears to account for

modes of orientation relative to salient stimuli. Much less is known about how memory-guided navigation uses brainstem motor circuits to steer and move forward.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Brainstem circuits play a central role in locomotor control. From an era where these circuits were studied with classical electrophysiological, anatomical, and pharmacological techniques, we are now in an era where a pallet of electrophysiological, molecular genetic, network, and behavioral approaches are routinely used to link aspects of behavior to designated neuronal brainstem populations. These studies have resolved issues about the organization of MLR, showing that it is composed of excitatory neurons in two nearby brainstem structures that control different aspects of the locomotor start and speed control. These studies have also designated some of the downstream circuits in the reticular formation that convey the MLR signal to the spinal cord and have predicted that others are involved. Parallel brainstem pathways involved in the stop and steering of locomotion have now been identified. How these command pathways orchestrate locomotor behavior through executive spinal circuits is not yet well understood. But with an understanding of the functional organization of the brainstem command signals, and key neuronal elements of spinal locomotor networks in vertebrates, it should now be possible to establish a functional connectome from the brainstem to the spinal cord. Such studies would be able to directly establish how locomotor rhythm is implemented in the cord and how gaits are controlled by the command signal. Perhaps the most significant aspect of delineating brainstem command pathways is that they serve as nodes that link distinct aspects of the motor output to context-dependent behavioral expression of locomotion. The clear behavioral organization of command pathways allows a bottom-up approach to probe higher brain functions—with locomotion as the vantage point. Building functional locomotor connectomes in this way will be an attractive theme in future research.

Insight into the functional organization of the brainstem command pathways is not only helping us to understand how animals and humans can move. This work also has important implications for understanding locomotor disorders, for example, locomotor impairment in Parkinson's disease, with a possibility for providing better treatments clinically.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (REP-SCI-693038), the Novo Nordisk Laureate Program (NNF15OC0014186), the Lundbeck Foundation (R276-2018-183 and R345-2020-1769), and the Swedish Research Council to O.K., and by the Lundbeck Foundation (R347-2020-2393) to J.M.C. We thank Mattias Karlen for figure illustrations.

LITERATURE CITED

Adam EM, Johns T, Sur M. 2020. Cortico-subthalamic projections send brief stop signals to halt visuallyguided locomotion. bioRxiv 2020.02.05.936443. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.05.936443

Al-Mosawie A, Wilson JM, Brownstone RM. 2007. Heterogeneity of V2-derived interneurons in the adult mouse spinal cord. Eur. J. Neurosci. 26(11):3003–15

- Allen LF, Inglis WL, Winn P. 1996. Is the cuneiform nucleus a critical component of the mesencephalic locomotor region? An examination of the effects of excitotoxic lesions of the cuneiform nucleus on spontaneous and nucleus accumbens induced locomotion. *Brain Res. Bull.* 41(4):201–10
- Amemiya M, Yamaguchi T. 1984. Fictive locomotion of the forelimb evoked by stimulation of the mesencephalic locomotor region in the decerebrate cat. *Neurosci. Lett.* 50(1–3):91–96
- Assareh N, Sarrami M, Carrive P, McNally GP. 2016. The organization of defensive behavior elicited by optogenetic excitation of rat lateral or ventrolateral periaqueductal gray. *Behav. Neurosci.* 130(4):406–14
- Ausborn J, Shevtsova N, Caggiano V, Danner S, Rybak I. 2019. Computational modeling of brainstem circuits controlling locomotor frequency and gait. *eLife* 8:e43587
- Aziz TZ, Davies L, Stein J, France S. 1998. The role of descending basal ganglia connections to the brain stem in Parkinsonian akinesia. Br. J. Neurosurg. 12(3):245–49
- Bellardita C, Kiehn O. 2015. Phenotypic characterization of speed-associated gait changes in mice reveals modular organization of locomotor networks. *Curr. Biol.* 25(11):1426–36
- Botta P, Fushiki A, Vicente A, Hammond L, Mosberger A, et al. 2020. An amygdala circuit mediates experience-dependent momentary arrests during exploration. *Cell* 183(3):605–619.e22
- Bouvier J, Caggiano V, Leiras R, Caldeira V, Bellardita C, et al. 2015. Descending command neurons in the brainstem that halt locomotion. *Cell* 163(5):1191–203
- Branco T, Redgrave P. 2020. The neural basis of escape behavior in vertebrates. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 43:417-39
- Bretzner F, Brownstone R. 2013. Lhx3-Chx10 reticulospinal neurons in locomotor circuits. J. Neurosci. 33(37):14681–92
- Brocard F, Ryczko D, Fénelon K, Hatem R, Gonzales D, et al. 2010. The transformation of a unilateral locomotor command into a symmetrical bilateral activation in the brainstem. J. Neurosci. 30(2):523–33
- Brownstone R, Chopek J. 2018. Reticulospinal systems for tuning motor commands. Front. Neural Circuits 12:30
- Brudzynski SM, Houghton PE, Brownlee RD, Mogenson GJ. 1986. Involvement of neuronal cell bodies of the mesencephalic locomotor region in the initiation of locomotor activity of freely behaving rats. *Brain Res. Bull.* 16(3):377–81
- Brudzynski SM, Mogenson GJ. 1985. Association of the mesencephalic locomotor region with locomotor activity induced by injections of amphetamine into the nucleus accumbens. *Brain Res.* 334(1):77–84
- Brudzynski SM, Wang D. 1996. c-Fos immunohistochemical localization of neurons in the mesencephalic locomotor region in the rat brain. *Neuroscience* 75(3):793–803
- Butt S, Kiehn O. 2003. Functional identification of interneurons responsible for left-right coordination of hindlimbs in mammals. *Neuron* 38(6):953–63
- Caggiano V, Leiras R, Goñi-Erro H, Masini D, Bellardita C, et al. 2018. Midbrain circuits that set locomotor speed and gait selection. *Nature* 553(7689):455–60
- Caldeira V, Dougherty KJ, Borgius L, Kiehn O. 2017. Spinal Hb9::Cre-derived excitatory interneurons contribute to rhythm generation in the mouse. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41369
- Capelli P, Pivetta C, Esposito MS, Arber S. 2017. Locomotor speed control circuits in the caudal brainstem. *Nature* 551(7680):373–77
- Carvalho MM, Tanke N, Kropff E, Witter MP, Moser MB, Moser EI. 2020. A brainstem locomotor circuit drives the activity of speed cells in the medial entorhinal cortex. *Cell Rep.* 32(10):108123
- Ciocchi S, Herry C, Grenier F, Wolff S, Letzkus J, et al. 2010. Encoding of conditioned fear in central amygdala inhibitory circuits. *Nature* 468(7321):277–82
- Coles SK, Iles JF, Nicolopoulos-Stournaras S. 1989. The mesencephalic centre controlling locomotion in the rat. *Neuroscience* 28(1):149–57
- Cregg JM, Leiras R, Montalant A, Wanken P, Wickersham IR, Kiehn O. 2020. Brainstem neurons that command mammalian locomotor asymmetries. *Nat. Neurosci.* 23(6):730–40
- Crone SA, Quinlan KA, Zagoraiou L, Droho S, Restrepo CE, et al. 2008. Genetic ablation of V2a ipsilateral interneurons disrupts left-right locomotor coordination in mammalian spinal cord. *Neuron* 60(1):70–83
- Dampney RAL, Furlong TM, Horiuchi J, Iigaya K. 2013. Role of dorsolateral periaqueductal grey in the coordinated regulation of cardiovascular and respiratory function. *Auton. Neurosci. Basic Clin.* 175(1–2):17–25
- Darmohray DM, Jacobs JR, Marques HG, Carey MR. 2019. Spatial and temporal locomotor learning in mouse cerebellum. *Neuron* 102(1):217–31.e4

- Dautan D, Kovács A, Bayasgalan T, Diaz-Acevedo M, Pal B, Mena-Segovia J. 2021. Modulation of motor behavior by the mesencephalic locomotor region. *Cell Rep.* 36(8):109594
- Dean P, Mitchell IJ, Redgrave P. 1988. Responses resembling defensive behaviour produced by microinjection of glutamate into superior colliculus of rats. *Neuroscience* 24(2):501–10
- Dean P, Redgrave P, Sahibzada N, Tsuji K. 1986. Head and body movements produced by electrical stimulation of superior colliculus in rats: effects of interruption of crossed tectoreticulospinal pathway. *Neuroscience* 19(2):367–80
- Dean P, Redgrave P, Westby GWM. 1989. Event or emergency? Two response systems in the mammalian superior colliculus. *Trends Neurosci.* 12(4):137–47
- DeLong MR. 1990. Primate models of movement disorders of basal ganglia origin. *Trends Neurosci*. 13(7):281–85
- Deng H, Xiao X, Wang Z. 2016. Periaqueductal gray neuronal activities underlie different aspects of defensive behaviors. J. Neurosci. 36(29):7580–88
- Dougherty K, Ha N. 2019. The rhythm section: an update on spinal interneurons setting the beat for mammalian locomotion. Curr. Opin. Physiol. 8:84–93
- Dougherty KJ, Zagoraiou L, Satoh D, Rozani I, Doobar S, et al. 2013. Locomotor rhythm generation linked to the output of spinal Shox2 excitatory interneurons. *Neuron* 80:920–33
- Douglas J, Noga B, Dai X, Jordan L. 1993. The effects of intrathecal administration of excitatory amino acid agonists and antagonists on the initiation of locomotion in the adult cat. J. Neurosci. 13(3):990–1000
- Drew T, Marigold D. 2015. Taking the next step: cortical contributions to the control of locomotion. *Curr: Opin. Neurobiol.* 33:25–33
- Dubuc R, Brocard F, Antri M, Fénelon K, Gariépy J-F, et al. 2008. Initiation of locomotion in lampreys. Brain Res. Rev. 57(1):172–82
- Dyson K, Miron J, Drew T. 2014. Differential modulation of descending signals from the reticulospinal system during reaching and locomotion. *J. Neurophysiol.* 112(10):2505–28
- Edgley S, Jankowska E, Shefchyk S. 1988. Evidence that mid-lumbar neurones in reflex pathways from group II afferents are involved in locomotion in the cat. *J. Physiol.* 403(1):57–71
- Eidelberg E, Walden JG, Nguyen LH. 1981. Locomotor control in macaque monkeys. Brain 104(4):647-63
- Eklöf Ljunggren E, Haupt S, Ausborn J, Ampatzis K, El Manira A. 2014. Optogenetic activation of excitatory premotor interneurons is sufficient to generate coordinated locomotor activity in larval zebrafish. *J. Neurosci.* 34(1):134–39
- Evans DA, Stempel AV, Vale R, Ruehle S, Lefler Y, Branco T. 2018. A synaptic threshold mechanism for computing escape decisions. *Nature* 558(7711):590–94
- Fadok JP, Krabbe S, Markovic M, Courtin J, Xu C, et al. 2017. A competitive inhibitory circuit for selection of active and passive fear responses. *Nature* 542(7639):96–99
- Fagerstedt P, Orlovsky GN, Deliagina TG, Grillner S, Ullén F. 2001. Lateral turns in the lamprey. II. Activity of reticulospinal neurons during the generation of fictive turns. J. Neurophysiol. 86(5):2257–65
- Ferreira-Pinto M, Kanodia H, Falasconi A, Sigrist M, Esposito M, Arber S. 2021. Functional diversity for body actions in the mesencephalic locomotor region. *Cell* 184:4564–78.e18
- Ferreira-Pinto MJ, Ruder L, Capelli P, Arber S. 2018. Connecting circuits for supraspinal control of locomotion. Neuron 100(2):361–74
- Ferris BD, Green J, Maimon G. 2018. Abolishment of spontaneous flight turns in visually responsive Drosophila. Curr. Biol. 28(2):170–80.e5
- Fobbs W, Bariselli S, Licholai J, Miyazaki N, Matikainen-Ankney B, et al. 2020. Continuous representations of speed by striatal medium spiny neurons. *7. Neurosci.* 40(8):1679–88

Garcia-Rill E. 1986. The basal ganglia and the locomotor regions. Brain Res. Rev. 11(1):47-63

- Garcia-Rill E, Skinner RD, Fitzgerald JA. 1985. Chemical activation of the mesencephalic locomotor region. Brain Res. 330(1):43–54
- Garcia-Rill E, Skinner RD, Gilmore SA. 1981. Pallidal projections to the mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR) in the cat. Am. J. Anat. 161(3):311–21
- Goñi-Erro H, Leiras R, Kiehn O. 2020. A subpopulation of glutamatergic pedunculopontine neurons transiently arrests movement. FENS Virtual Forum 2020:2292 (Abstr.)

- Goulding M. 2009. Circuits controlling vertebrate locomotion: moving in a new direction. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10(7):507–18
- Grätsch S, Auclair F, Demers O, Auguste E, Hanna A, et al. 2019. A brainstem neural substrate for stopping locomotion. J. Neurosci. 39(6):1044–57
- Grillner S. 2003. The motor infrastructure: from ion channels to neuronal networks. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 4(7):573–86
- Grillner S, El Manira A. 2020. Current principles of motor control, with special reference to vertebrate locomotion. *Physiol. Rev.* 100(1):271–320
- Grillner S, Georgopoulos AP, Jordan L. 1997. Neurons, Networks and Motor Behavior. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Grillner S, Jessell TM. 2009. Measured motion: searching for simplicity in spinal locomotor networks. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 19(6):572–86
- Grillner S, Kozlov A, Dario P, Stefanini C, Menciassi A, et al. 2007. Modeling a vertebrate motor system: pattern generation, steering and control of body orientation. *Prog. Brain Res.* 165:221–34
- Grillner S, Robertson B. 2015. The basal ganglia downstream control of brainstem motor centres—an evolutionarily conserved strategy. *Curr: Opin. Neurobiol.* 33:47–52
- Gruntman E, Benjamini Y, Golani I. 2007. Coordination of steering in a free-trotting quadruped. J. Comp. Physiol. A. Neuroethol. Sens. Neural. Behav. Physiol. 193(3):331–45
- Guillaumin A, Serra G, Georges F, Wallén-Mackenzie Å. 2021. Experimental investigation into the role of the subthalamic nucleus (STN) in motor control using optogenetics in mice. *Brain Res.* 1755:147226
- Hägglund M, Borgius L, Dougherty KJ, Kiehn O. 2010. Activation of groups of excitatory neurons in the mammalian spinal cord or hindbrain evokes locomotion. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13:246–52
- Harris-Warrick RM. 2011. Neuromodulation and flexibility in Central Pattern Generator networks. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 21(5):685–92
- Herry C, Johansen J. 2014. Encoding of fear learning and memory in distributed neuronal circuits. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17(12):1644–54
- Huang KH, Ahrens MB, Dunn TW, Engert F. 2013. Spinal projection neurons control turning behaviors in zebrafish. Curr. Biol. 23(16):1566–73
- Inglis WL, Allen LF, Whitelaw RB, Latimer MP, Brace HM, Winn P. 1994. An investigation into the role of the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus in the mediation of locomotion and orofacial stereotypy induced by *d*-amphetamine and apomorphine in the rat. *Neuroscience* 58(4):817–33
- Isa K, Sooksawate T, Kobayashi K, Kobayashi K, Redgrave P, Isa T. 2020. Dissecting the tectal output channels for orienting and defense responses. *eNeuro* 7(5):ENEURO.0271-20.2020
- Isa T, Marquez-Legorreta E, Grillner S, Scott EK. 2021. The tectum/superior colliculus as the vertebrate solution for spatial sensory integration and action. *Curr. Biol.* 31(11):R741–62
- Jankowska E. 2008. Spinal interneuronal networks in the cat: elementary components. *Brain Res. Rev.* 57(1):46–55
- Jankowska E, Hammar I, Slawinska U, Maleszak K, Edgley S. 2003. Neuronal basis of crossed actions from the reticular formation on feline hindlimb motoneurons. J. Neurosci. 23(5):1867–78
- Jordan L. 1998. Initiation of locomotion in mammals. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 860:83-93
- Jordan LM, Liu J, Hedlund PB, Akay T, Pearson KG. 2008. Descending command systems for the initiation of locomotion in mammals. *Brain Res. Rev.* 57(1):183–91
- Josset N, Roussel M, Lemieux M, Lafrance-Zoubga D, Rastqar A, Bretzner F. 2018. Distinct contributions of mesencephalic locomotor region nuclei to locomotor control in the freely behaving mouse. Curr. Biol. 28(6):884–901.e3
- Juvin L, Grätsch S, Trillaud-Doppia E, Gariépy J-F, Büschges A, Dubuc R. 2016. A specific population of reticulospinal neurons controls the termination of locomotion. *Cell Rep.* 15(11):2377–86
- Karachi C, Grabli D, Bernard FA, Tandé D, Wattiez N, et al. 2010. Cholinergic mesencephalic neurons are involved in gait and postural disorders in Parkinson disease. J. Clin. Investig. 120:2745–54
- Kiehn O. 2006. Locomotor circuits in the mammalian spinal cord. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 29:279-306
- Kiehn O. 2016. Decoding the organization of spinal circuits that control locomotion. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 17(4):224–38

- Kim LH, Sharma S, Sharples SA, Mayr KA, Kwok CHT, Whelan PJ. 2017. Integration of descending command systems for the generation of context-specific locomotor behaviors. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:581
- Klaus A, Alves Da Silva J, Costa RM. 2019. What, if, and when to move: basal ganglia circuits and self-paced action initiation. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 42:459–83
- Kravitz AV, Freeze BS, Parker PRL, Kay K, Thwin MT, et al. 2010. Regulation of parkinsonian motor behaviours by optogenetic control of basal ganglia circuitry. *Nature* 466(7306):622–26
- Kroeger D, Ferrari L, Petit G, Mahoney C, Fuller P, et al. 2017. Cholinergic, glutamatergic, and GABAergic neurons of the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus have distinct effects on sleep/wake behavior in mice. *J. Neurosci.* 37(5):1352–66
- Lanuza GM, Gosgnach S, Pierani A, Jessell TM, Goulding M. 2004. Genetic identification of spinal interneurons that coordinate left-right locomotor activity necessary for walking movements. *Neuron* 42(3):375–86
- Lee A, Hoy J, Bonci A, Wilbrecht L, Stryker M, Niell C. 2014. Identification of a brainstem circuit regulating visual cortical state in parallel with locomotion. *Neuron* 83(2):455–66
- Lemieux M, Bretzner F. 2019. Glutamatergic neurons of the gigantocellular reticular nucleus shape locomotor pattern and rhythm in the freely behaving mouse. *PLOS Biol.* 17(4):e2003880
- Li WC, Soffe SR, Wolf E, Roberts A. 2006. Persistent responses to brief stimuli: feedback excitation among brainstem neurons. J. Neurosci. 26(15):4026–35
- Liu J, Jordan LM. 2005. Stimulation of the parapyramidal region of the neonatal rat brain stem produces locomotor-like activity involving spinal 5-HT₇ and 5-HT_{2A} receptors. *J. Neurophysiol.* 94(2):1392–404
- Lundfald L, Restrepo CE, Butt SJB, Peng CY, Droho S, et al. 2007. Phenotype of V2-derived interneurons and their relationship to the axon guidance molecule EphA4 in the developing mouse spinal cord. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 26(11):2989–3002
- Marlinsky VV, Voitenko LP. 1991. The effect of procaine injection into the medullary reticular formation on forelimb muscle activity evoked by mesencephalic locomotor region and vestibular stimulation in the decerebrated guinea-pig. *Neuroscience* 45(3):753–59
- Masini D, Kiehn O. 2022. Targeted activation of midbrain neurons restores locomotor function in mouse models of parkinsonism. Nat. Commun. 13:504
- Masullo L, Mariotti L, Alexandre N, Freire-Pritchett P, Boulanger J, Tripodi M. 2019. Genetically defined functional modules for spatial orienting in the mouse superior colliculus. *Curr. Biol.* 29(17):2892–904.e8
- Matsuyama K, Nakajima K, Mori F, Aoki M, Mori S. 2004. Lumbar commissural interneurons with reticulospinal inputs in the cat: morphology and discharge patterns during fictive locomotion. J. Comp. Neurol. 474(4):546–61
- McClellan AD, Grillner S. 1984. Activation of "fictive swimming" by electrical microstimulation of brainstem locomotor regions in an in vitro preparation of the lamprey central nervous system. *Brain Res.* 300(2):357– 61
- McElvain L, Chen Y, Moore J, Brigidi G, Bloodgood B, et al. 2021. Specific populations of basal ganglia output neurons target distinct brain stem areas while collateralizing throughout the diencephalon. *Neuron* 109(10):1721–38.e4
- McLean D, Masino M, Koh I, Lindquist W, Fetcho J. 2008. Continuous shifts in the active set of spinal interneurons during changes in locomotor speed. Nat. Neurosci. 11(12):1419–29
- Mena-Segovia J, Bolam JP. 2017. Rethinking the pedunculopontine nucleus: from cellular organization to function. Neuron 94(1):7–18
- Milner KL, Mogenson GJ. 1988. Electrical and chemical activation of the mesencephalic and subthalamic locomotor regions in freely moving rats. *Brain Res.* 452(1–2):273–85
- Mori S, Nishimura H, Kurakami C, Yamamura T, Aoki M. 1978. Controlled locomotion in the mesencephalic cat: distribution of facilitatory and inhibitory regions within pontine tegmentum. J. Neurophysiol. 41(6):1580–91
- Mori S, Sakamoto T, Ohta Y, Takakusaki K, Matsuyama K. 1989. Site-specific postural and locomotor changes evoked in awake, freely moving intact cats by stimulating the brainstem. *Brain Res.* 505(1):66–74
- Mullie Y, Arto I, Yahiaoui N, Drew T. 2020. Contribution of the entopeduncular nucleus and the globus pallidus to the control of locomotion and visually guided gait modifications in the cat. *Cereb. Cortex* 30(9):5121–46

- Musienko PE, Zelenin PV, Lyalka VF, Gerasimenko YP, Orlovsky GN, Deliagina TG. 2012. Spinal and supraspinal control of the direction of stepping during locomotion. J. Neurosci. 32(48):17442–53
- Nambu A. 2004. A new dynamic model of the cortico-basal ganglia loop. Prog. Brain Res. 143:461-66
- Noga BR, Kettler J, Jordan LM. 1988. Locomotion produced in mesencephalic cats by injections of putative transmitter substances and antagonists into the medial reticular formation and the pontomedullary locomotor strip. *J. Neurosci.* 8(6):2074–86
- Noga BR, Kriellaars DJ, Jordan LM. 1991. The effect of selective brainstem or spinal cord lesions on treadmill locomotion evoked by stimulation of the mesencephalic or pontomedullary locomotor regions. *J. Neurosci.* 11(6):1691–700
- Ohta Y, Grillner S. 1989. Monosynaptic excitatory amino acid transmission from the posterior rhombencephalic reticular nucleus to spinal neurons involved in the control of locomotion in lamprey. J. Neurophysiol. 62(5):1079–89
- Opris I, Dai X, Johnson DMG, Sanchez FJ, Villamil LM, et al. 2019. Activation of brainstem neurons during mesencephalic locomotor region-evoked locomotion in the cat. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 13:69
- Packard MG, McGaugh JL. 1992. Double dissociation of fornix and caudate nucleus lesions on acquisition of two water maze tasks: further evidence for multiple memory systems. *Behav. Neurosci.* 106(3):439–46
- Parolari L, Schneeberger M, Heintz N, Friedman J. 2021. Functional analysis of distinct populations of subthalamic nucleus neurons on Parkinson's disease and OCD-like behaviors in mice. *Mol. Psychiatry* 26:7029–46
- Quinlan K, Kiehn O. 2007. Segmental, synaptic actions of commissural interneurons in the mouse spinal cord. J. Neurosci. 27(24):6521–30
- Rancic V, Gosgnach S. 2021. Recent insights into the rhythmogenic core of the locomotor CPG. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22(3):1394
- Rayshubskiy A, Holtz S, D'Alessandro I, Li A, Vanderbeck Q, et al. 2020. Neural circuit mechanisms for steering control in walking *Drosophila*. bioRxiv 2020.04.04.024703. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.04. 04.024703
- Rizzi G, Tan KR. 2019. Synergistic nigral output pathways shape movement. Cell Rep. 27(7):2184–98.e4
- Robbe D. 2018. To move or to sense? Incorporating somatosensory representation into striatal functions. *Curr:* Opin. Neurobiol. 52:123–30
- Roberts A, Li WC, Soffe SR. 2010. How neurons generate behavior in a hatchling amphibian tadpole: an outline. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 4:16
- Rolland AS, Tandé D, Herrero MT, Luquin MR, Vazquez-Claverie M, et al. 2009. Evidence for a dopaminergic innervation of the pedunculopontine nucleus in monkeys, and its drastic reduction after MPTP intoxication. *J. Neurochem.* 110(4):1321–29
- Roseberry T, Kreitzer A. 2017. Neural circuitry for behavioural arrest. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* 372(1718):20160197
- Roseberry TK, Lalive AL, Margolin BD, Kreitzer AC. 2019. Locomotor suppression by a monosynaptic amygdala to brainstem circuit. bioRxiv 724252. https://doi.org/10.1101/724252
- Roseberry TK, Lee AM, Lalive AL, Wilbrecht L, Bonci A, Kreitzer AC. 2016. Cell-type-specific control of brainstem locomotor circuits by basal ganglia. Cell 164(3):526–37

Ruder L, Arber S. 2019. Brainstem circuits controlling action diversification. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 42:485–504

- Ryczko D, Cone JJ, Alpert MH, Goetz L, Auclair F, et al. 2016. A descending dopamine pathway conserved from basal vertebrates to mammals. PNAS 113(17):E2440–49
- Ryczko D, Dubuc R. 2013. The multifunctional mesencephalic locomotor region. Curr. Pharm. Des. 19(24):4448–70
- Schepens B, Drew T. 2006. Descending signals from the pontomedullary reticular formation are bilateral, asymmetric, and gated during reaching movements in the cat. *J. Neurophysiol.* 96(5):2229–52
- Schmidt BJ, Jordan LM. 2000. The role of serotonin in reflex modulation and locomotor rhythm production in the mammalian spinal cord. Brain Res. Bull. 53(5):689–710
- Schwarz M, Sontag KH, Wand P. 1984. Sensory-motor processing in substantia nigra pars reticulata in conscious cats. J. Physiol. 347(1):129–47

- Schweizer N, Pupe S, Arvidsson E, Nordenankar K, Smith-Anttila C, et al. 2014. Limiting glutamate transmission in a Vglut2-expressing subpopulation of the subthalamic nucleus is sufficient to cause hyperlocomotion. PNAS 111(21):7837–42
- Schwenkgrub J, Harrell ER, Bathellier B, Bouvier J. 2020. Deep imaging in the brainstem reveals functional heterogeneity in V2a neurons controlling locomotion. Sci. Adv. 6(49):eabc6309
- Shefchyk SJ, Jell RM, Jordan LM. 1984. Reversible cooling of the brainstem reveals areas required for mesencephalic locomotor region evoked treadmill locomotion. *Exp. Brain Res.* 56(2):257–62
- Shefchyk SJ, Jordan LM. 1985. Excitatory and inhibitory postsynaptic potentials in α-motoneurons produced during fictive locomotion by stimulation of the mesencephalic locomotor region. *J. Neurophysiol.* 53(6):1345–55
- Shi LH, Luo F, Woodward DJ, Chang JY. 2004. Neural responses in multiple basal ganglia regions during spontaneous and treadmill locomotion task in rats. *Exp. Brain Res.* 157(3):303–14
- Shik ML, Severin FV, Orlovskii GN. 1966. Control of walking and running by means of electric stimulation of the midbrain. *Biofizika* 11(4):659–66
- Sirota MG, Di Prisco GV, Dubuc R. 2000. Stimulation of the mesencephalic locomotor region elicits controlled swimming in semi-intact lampreys. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 12(11):4081–92
- Sirota MG, Shik ML. 1973. [Locomotion of the cat on stimulation of the mesencephalon]. Fiziol. Zburnal SSSR Im. I.M. Sechenova. 59(9):1314–21 (In Russian)
- Skinner RD, Garcia-Rill E. 1984. The mesencephalic locomotor region (MLR) in the rat. Brain Res. 323(2):385–89
- Song J, Pallucchi I, Ausborn J, Ampatzis K, Bertuzzi M, et al. 2020. Multiple rhythm-generating circuits act in tandem with pacemaker properties to control the start and speed of locomotion. *Neuron* 105(6):1048– 61.e4
- Svoboda K, Li N. 2018. Neural mechanisms of movement planning: motor cortex and beyond. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 49:33–41
- Szokol K, Glover J, Perreault M. 2011. Organization of functional synaptic connections between medullary reticulospinal neurons and lumbar descending commissural interneurons in the neonatal mouse. J. Neurosci. 31(12):4731–42
- Takakusaki K, Chiba R, Nozu T, Okumura T. 2016. Brainstem control of locomotion and muscle tone with special reference to the role of the mesopontine tegmentum and medullary reticulospinal systems. *J. Neural Transm.* 123(7):695–729
- Takakusaki K, Habaguchi T, Ohtinata-Sugimoto J, Saitoh K, Sakamoto T. 2003. Basal ganglia efferents to the brainstem centers controlling postural muscle tone and locomotion: a new concept for understanding motor disorders in basal ganglia dysfunction. *Neuroscience* 119(1):293–308
- Takakusaki K, Oohinata-Sugimoto J, Saitoh K, Habaguchi T. 2004. Role of basal ganglia-brainstem systems in the control of postural muscle tone and locomotion. *Prog. Brain Res.* 143:231–37
- Talpalar A, Bouvier J, Borgius L, Fortin G, Pierani A, Kiehn O. 2013. Dual-mode operation of neuronal networks involved in left-right alternation. *Nature* 500(7460):85–88
- Tecuapetla F, Matias S, Dugue GP, Mainen ZF, Costa RM. 2014. Balanced activity in basal ganglia projection pathways is critical for contraversive movements. *Nat. Commun.* 5(1):4315
- Thiele TR, Donovan JC, Baier H. 2014. Descending control of swim posture by a midbrain nucleus in zebrafish. *Neuron* 83(3):679–91
- Tovote P, Esposito MS, Botta P, Chaudun F, Fadok JP, et al. 2016. Midbrain circuits for defensive behaviour. *Nature* 534(7606):206–12
- Tovote P, Fadok JP, Lüthi A. 2015. Neuronal circuits for fear and anxiety. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 16(6):317-31
- Usseglio G, Gatier E, Heuzé A, Hérent C, Bouvier J. 2020. Control of orienting movements and locomotion by projection-defined subsets of brainstem V2a neurons. *Curr. Biol.* 30(23):4665–4681.e6
- van der Zouwen CI, Boutin J, Fougère M, Flaive A, Vivancos M, et al. 2021. Freely behaving mice can brake and turn during optogenetic stimulation of the mesencephalic locomotor region. *Front. Neural Circuits* 15:639900
- Virmani T, Urbano FJ, Bisagno V, Garcia-Rill E. 2019. The pedunculopontine nucleus: from posture and locomotion to neuroepigenetics. AIMS Neurosci. 6(4):219–30

- Warren RA, Zhang Q, Hoffman JR, Li EY, Hong YK, et al. 2021. A rapid whisker-based decision underlying skilled locomotion in mice. *eLife* 10:e63596
- Watson G, Hughes R, Petter E, Fallon I, Kim N, et al. 2021. Thalamic projections to the subthalamic nucleus contribute to movement initiation and rescue of parkinsonian symptoms. *Sci. Adv.* 7(6):eabe9192
- Wessel J, Aron A. 2017. On the globality of motor suppression: unexpected events and their influence on behavior and cognition. *Neuron* 93(2):259-80
- Winn P. 2006. How best to consider the structure and function of the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus: evidence from animal studies. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 248(1–2):234–50
- Xiao C, Cho JR, Zhou C, Treweek JB, Chan K, et al. 2016. Cholinergic mesopontine signals govern locomotion and reward through dissociable midbrain pathways. *Neuron* 90(2):333–47
- Zingg B, Chou X, Zhang Z, Mesik L, Liang F, et al. 2017. AAV-mediated anterograde transsynaptic tagging: mapping corticocollicular input-defined neural pathways for defense behaviors. *Neuron* 93(1):33–47



Annual Review of Neuroscience

Volume 45, 2022

Contents

 Fluorescence Imaging of Neural Activity, Neurochemical Dynamics, and Drug-Specific Receptor Conformation with Genetically Encoded Sensors <i>Chunyang Dong, Yu Zheng, Kiran Long-Iyer, Emily C. Wright, Yulong Li,</i> and Lin Tian
A Theoretical Framework for Human and Nonhuman Vocal Interaction Gregg A. Castellucci, Frank H. Guenther, and Michael A. Long
Neuromodulation and Neurophysiology on the Timescale of Learning and Decision-Making <i>Cooper D. Grossman and Jeremiab Y. Cohen</i>
Neuroimmune Interactions in Peripheral Organs Roel G.J. Klein Wolterink, Glendon S. Wu, Isaac M. Chiu, and Henrique Veiga-Fernandes
Subcortical Cognition: The Fruit Below the Rind Karolina Janacsek, Tanya M. Evans, Mariann Kiss, Leela Shah, Hal Blumenfeld, and Michael T. Ullman
Considering Organismal Physiology in Laboratory Studies of Rodent Behavior Patricia Rubio Arzola and Rebecca M. Shansky
Neuroscientific Evidence for Processing Without Awareness Liad Mudrik and Leon Y. Deouell
Microglia and Neurodevelopmental Disorders John R. Lukens and Ukpong B. Eyo
 Adeno-Associated Virus Toolkit to Target Diverse Brain Cells Rosemary C. Challis, Sripriya Ravindra Kumar, Xinhong Chen, David Goertsen, Gerard M. Coughlin, Acacia M. Hori, Miguel R. Chuapoco, Thomas S. Otis, Timothy F. Miles, and Viviana Gradinaru
Cross-Modal Plasticity in Brains Deprived of Visual Input Before Vision <i>Guillermina López-Bendito, Mar Aníbal-Martínez, and Francisco J. Martini</i>
Functional Ultrasound Neuroimaging Gabriel Montaldo, Alan Urban, and Emilie Macé
Human Cerebellar Development and Transcriptomics: Implications for Neurodevelopmental Disorders <i>Parthiv Haldipur, Kathleen J. Millen, and Kimberly A. Aldinger</i>

Theory of the Multiregional Neocortex: Large-Scale Neural	
Dynamics and Distributed Cognition	
Xiao-Jing Wang	533
Beyond Wrapping: Canonical and Noncanonical Functions of	
Schwann Cells	
Carla Taveggia and M. Laura Feltri	561
Synaptic Mechanisms Regulating Mood State Transitions	
in Depression	
Puja K. Parekh, Shane B. Johnson, and Conor Liston	581

Indexes

Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volu	imes 36–45 603
--	----------------

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Neuroscience* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/neuro